Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-21-2008

Christian v. Mason Appellant's Brief Dckt. 35331

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- A. Nature of the case: This case involves a claim by appellants, the Christians, to avoid a fraudulent transfer by Robert McClung to the appellee, Mason, following the revelation of McClung's operation of a Ponzi scheme in which both the Christians and Mason were victims. Mason received payments from McClung in excess of the amounts he originally was induced to give to McClung, while the Christians suffered a substantial loss and are judgment creditors of McClung.
- B. <u>Course of proceedings below</u>: The parties cross-moved for summary judgment. The district court dismissed the Christians' claim, concluding the claim was the property of the estate of McClung's bankruptcy, and that the Christians lacked standing to pursue the claim. This appeal followed.

C. Statement of facts:

This case involves a Ponzi scheme in which both parties to this case were victims. Defendant Mason received over \$32,000 more back from the perpetrator of the scheme, Robert McClung (who now resides in federal prison as a result of the scheme), than he gave to McClung. Plaintiffs the Christians, who suffered a loss of almost \$155,000, sued to recover from Mason the amount of the excess, as a fraudulent transfer by McClung.

Christians filed their Complaint against Mason on July 20, 2006. CR 4. The first eight paragraphs of Christians' Complaint alleged as follows:

1. Plaintiffs JERRY CHRISTIAN and JOY CHRISTIAN, husband and wife, are residents of Idaho Falls, Idaho.

- 2. Defendant DAVID MASON is a resident of Idaho Falls, Idaho.
- 3. Plaintiffs are judgment creditors of Robert O. McClung ("McClung") in the amount of \$154,690.80. A true and correct copy of the judgment in favor of Plaintiffs and against McClung is attached hereto as Exhibit A.
- 4. Plaintiffs and Defendant were victims of a fraudulent scheme by McClung in which he purported to act as an investment advisor and "day-trader," soliciting funds from victims and representing to them that he was investing the funds on their behalf via day-trading.
- 5. McClung provided Plaintiffs, Defendant and other victims with fraudulent "account statements" purporting to evidence investment gains. In fact, McClung engaged in virtually no trading of victim funds, and appropriated the funds for his own use, or to pay fictitious "gains" to some "investors" in a Ponzi scheme while the scheme remained active.
- 6. In approximately July 2002, the Idaho Department of Finance began investigating McClung's activities. McClung's fictitious "account statements" provided to victims showed that he "quit trading" on or about July 29, 2002. He sent a letter to victims at the end of August, 2002, providing excuses for not currently trading. His last statements (that showed no "trading") were for August and September, 2002.
- 7. On or about November 25, 2002, the Idaho Department of Finance initiated a civil lawsuit against McClung and entities he controlled as part of his fraudulent scheme seeking a judgment against McClung for unreturned victim funds, and to prohibit him from further violating the Idaho Securities Act.
- 8. On or about January 25, 2005, McClung pleaded guilty in United States District Court to a charge of mail fraud relating to his fraudulent investment scheme. A true and correct copy of McClung's plea agreement, in which he admits the operative facts of his fraudulent scheme, is attached hereto as Exhibit B.

McClung was sentenced to approximately thirty-six months in prison, and presently is incarcerated in a United States correctional facility.

Complaint, ¶¶ 1-8; CR 5-6. In his Answer, Mason responded in pertinent part: "Defendant David Mason . . . hereby answers Plaintiffs Jerry and Joy Christian's (Christian) Complaint to Avoid Fraudulent transfer as follows: . . . 2. Admits paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8." Answer, ¶ 2; CR 22. Thus, Mason admitted that Christians are judgment creditors of McClung; that McClung perpetrated a fraudulent Ponzi scheme of which the parties were victims; that the account statements provided by McClung purporting to show investment gains were fraudulent; that McClung engaged in virtually no trading of "investor" funds, and appropriated the funds for his own use, or to pay fictitious "gains" to some victims; that McClung ultimately pleaded guilty to mail fraud as a result of his scheme; and that copy of McClung's plea agreement, in which he admitted the operative facts of his fraudulent scheme, was true and correct.

In his plea agreement, 1 McClung admitted as follows:

The defendant assured Mr. Christian and other investors that their investment would be at minimal risk because all transactions would be closed out before the end of the close of business. The defendant further represented to Mr. Christian and other investors that they could earn three percent (3%) return per month on their investment. The defendant showed investors, including Mr.

McClung's plea agreement is also publicly available via the ECF and PACER systems for accessing the files of the United States District Court for the District of Idaho, as Document 13 filed in case number CR 04-0241-E-BLW. Idaho Rule of Evidence 201(b) provides that a court may take judicial notice of a fact when the fact is capable of accurate determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned. A court must take judicial notice if requested by a party and supplied with the necessary information. I.R.E. 201(d). Judicial notice may be taken at any stage of a proceeding. I.R.E. 201(f). Even absent Mason's admission regarding the accuracy of the plea agreement, the district court could and should have taken judicial notice of it and its contents.

Christian, monthly statements with consistent earnings and no losses. . . . Mr. Christian and other investors would not have provided the defendant with investment funds had they known the defendant would misapply investment funds to his own personal use. Nor would Mr. Christian have invested monies when the defendant was not, in fact, realizing profits from his purported day trading. The evidence would show that defendant conducted day trading on only thirty-two (32) days during 2000, 2001, and 2002, not on a daily or regular basis as he represented to investors. Further more, the defendant received approximately \$1.7 million from approximately one hundred investors and caused investors to lose \$1.1 million. . . . The defendant misapplied a substantial sum of said investment proceeds to his own personal use.

Complaint, Ex. B, pp. 1-2 (emphasis added); CR 14-15. Thus, McClung admitted that his scheme did not produce "earnings," but that he was diverting funds to his personal use, and that over \$1 million of his victims' money was unaccounted for.

Following the revelation of his Ponzi scheme, McClung filed for bankruptcy. On October 14, 2004, the Christians obtained a judgment against him in the bankruptcy proceeding in the amount of \$154,690.80. CR 8-9. The judgment reflected that the Christians' claims against McClung were nondischargeable. CR 9.

McClung was sentenced to 37 months in federal prison for his crimes. Affidavit of Michael Christian ("Christian Affidavit"), Ex. A; CR 118. He served his sentence as an inmate in federal prison in Elkton, Ohio. Christian Affidavit, Ex. B; CR 126-127.

Unlike the Christians, Mason received \$32,873.12 more from McClung than he provided to him. Affidavit in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment (David Mason), ¶ 7; CR 66. Mason admitted that he "invested" various amounts with McClung. Mason Affidavit,

¶¶ 4, 5; CR 66. His affidavit, and the "account statements" attached to his affidavit, the accuracy of which he acknowledged, showed total additions of \$166,042.06 and total withdrawals of \$198,915.18, resulting in excess payments to Mason of \$32,873.12. Mason Affidavit, ¶ 4 and Ex. B; CR 66, 68-88.² The excess was included in the last payments to Mason of \$14,000 on July 22, 2002, \$709.13 on July 29, 2002, and \$30,905.06 on October 2, 2002. CR 27, 49, 66, 68, 86. Mason acknowledged the dates and amounts of these withdrawals in his brief in support of his own summary judgment motion. CR 27.

The parties cross-moved for summary judgment. Mason initially asserted, without substantiation, that any excess "in Mason's account" actually belonged to his father, and that he only "invested for" his father. CR 66; CR 27. No corroborating evidence of any kind supported these conclusory assertions. Whether he ultimately owed the money to his father is irrelevant, however, if Mason was the transferee of money from McClung. In briefing on the parties' cross-motions for summary judgment, Mason acknowledged that he was the transferee. CR 27 ("After November 2001, reported earnings continued to be withdrawn each month and eventually the principal was paid back to Mason by McClung."). Mason also admitted that the money "was invested with Mr. McClung under my name." Mason Affidavit, ¶ 6; CR 66. The documents attached to Mason's affidavit showed that from May of 2001 on, only David Mason dealt with McClung, and money was paid by McClung to David Mason himself. Mason Affidavit, Ex. B; CR 68-88. Documents produced by Mason in discovery showed that, on the

Mason's own accounting, attached as Exhibit A to his affidavit, erroneously omitted the \$1,476.18 he received from McClung in September 2001, as reflected in the "account statement" for that period. CR 76.

dates corresponding to the excess payments of \$14,000 on July 22, 2002 and \$30,905.06 October 2, 2002, David Mason wrote checks from the checking account for his business to an investment account owned by him, for \$14,000 and \$30,000, respectively. Christian Affidavit, Ex. C; CR 128-132. Finally, checks for the disputed transfers (and other transfers from McClung which Mason asserted were "withdrawals" made by his father) were made payable to David Mason, not to his father. CR 105-111. In its Opinion, Decision and Order dismissing the Christians' claim, the district court found that "Mason gave McClung \$166,042.06 and received \$198,915.08, a net gain of \$32,873.12." CR 146. David Mason was the transferee of the excess payments.

Mason also asserted without substantiation that the last payments McClung made to him were "returns of principal," and that earlier payments to him were "earnings" on his "investment." Mason Affidavit, ¶ 7; CR 66. As further discussed below, in a Ponzi scheme, there are no "earnings" — the scheme is based on a fraudulent report of "earnings" to induce victims to provide more money. McClung's guilty plea established this fact, as did Mason's admissions in response to the key allegations of the Christians' Complaint. CR 15, 22. They and the judgment of the bankruptcy court established that any payments to Mason were not "earnings" but were, to the extent in excess of money provided by Mason to McClung, fraudulent transfers of money owed to others, including the Christians.

Following the hearing on the parties' motions, the district court ruled, essentially sua sponte, that Christians lacked standing to pursue their fraudulent transfer claim against Mason. The Court concluded that the claim belonged exclusively to the bankruptcy estate, and that the state law fraudulent transfer claim was therefore preempted by federal law. CR 146-151.

In part, the district court ruled that because the bankruptcy trustee had not pursued a fraudulent transfer claim against Mason within two years pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 548, "[a]llowing Plaintiffs an alternate route around the limitations found in the bankruptcy code would only serve to circumvent the process and frustrate the orderly administration of the bankruptcy estate." CR 150.

McClung's Chapter 11 bankruptcy case, District of Idaho Bankruptcy Court, Case No. 03-40682, was filed on April 16, 2003. The trustee was appointed in the Chapter 11 case on April 17, 2003, and again on October 17, 2003 after the case was converted to a Chapter 7 proceeding.³ As noted, the Christians received their judgment against McClung from the bankruptcy court on October 14, 2004. The bankruptcy trustee apparently took essentially no action to pursue recovery of McClung's excess payment to Mason.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Do Christians have standing to pursue their fraudulent transfer claim against Mason, where the trustee in the fraudulent transferor's bankruptcy failed to timely pursue the claim and the bankruptcy is closed?

McClung's bankruptcy case records are publicly available via the ECF and PACER systems for accessing the files of the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Idaho, in case number 03-40682. The court may take judicial notice of a fact when the fact is capable of accurate determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned. I.R.E. 201(b). Judicial notice may be taken at any stage of a proceeding. I.R.E. 201(f); Trautman v. Hill, 116 Idaho 337, 340 (Ct. App. 1989). Given its reliance upon the existence of McClung's bankruptcy case, the district court could and should have taken judicial notice of its records. This Court also should take judicial notice of those records.

2. Should the district court have granted summary judgment to the Christians on their fraudulent transfer claim, since Mason admitted the essential elements of the claim and no genuine issue of material fact remained?

III. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of review.

This court reviews the district court's rulings on issues of law *de novo*. Basic American, Inc. v. Shatila, 133 Idaho 726, 734 (1999). A ruling on a motion for motion for summary judgment is an issue of law reviewed *de novo*. Cascade Auto Glass, Inc. v. Idaho Farm Bureau Ins. Co., 141 Idaho 660, 662 (2005).

B. The district court erred by ruling that the fraudulent transfer claim against Mason was the property of McClung's bankruptcy estate and could not be pursued by McClung's creditors.

A trustee in bankruptcy may avoid fraudulent transfers made by the debtor. 11 U.S.C. §548. The pre-BAPCPA version of 11 U.S.C. § 546(a) in effect at the time of McClung's bankruptcy limited the time for the trustee to pursue a fraudulent transfer claim against Mason to:

the earlier of-

- (1) the later of --
 - (A) 2 years after the entry of the order for relief; or
- (B) 1 year after the appointment or election of the first trustee under section 702, 1104, 1163, 1202, or 1302 of this title [11 USCS § 702, 1104, 1163, 1202, or 1302] if such appointment or such election occurs before the expiration of the period specified in subparagraph (A); or
 - (2) the time the case is closed or dismissed.

The "order for relief" is the petition for bankruptcy in a voluntary bankruptcy case. 11 U.S.C. § 301; In re Smith, 235 F.3d 472, 475 (9th Cir. 2000).

As noted, McClung's bankruptcy petition was filed on April 16, 2003. A trustee was appointed on April 17, 2003, and again on October 17, 2003 following conversion of the case from a Chapter 11 proceeding to a Chapter 7 liquidation. Thus, even giving 11 U.S.C. § 546(a)(1) a liberal interpretation, the trustee's ability to pursue recovery of the excess transfer to Mason expired no later than one year after the appointment of the trustee following conversion of the case, or October 17, 2004.

Contrary to the district court's conclusion, the trustee's abandonment of the claim did not extinguish or preempt individual creditors' claims to avoid the same fraudulent transfer. Nothing in either the Bankruptcy Code or the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act provides for this result. To the contrary, numerous courts have recognized that once the trustee fails to timely pursue a fraudulent transfer claim, creditors of the bankruptcy debtor are free to pursue their own claims against the excess transferee, exactly as the Christians did.

For example, in <u>Klingman v. Levinson</u>, 158 B.R. 109 (N.D. Ill. 1993), Levinson, an attorney, embezzled money from his clients. Klingman sued to have Levinson's assignment of an interest in a trust to his wife set aside as a fraudulent transfer. Levinson filed for bankruptcy, and Levinson's debt to Klingman for the embezzlement was held to be nondischargeable.⁴ Klingman's action was removed to the federal court, and then removed to

The same is true of McClung's debt to the Christians; its nondischargeability is expressly stated in the Christians' judgment against McClung.

the bankruptcy court following Levinson's bankruptcy filing. Levinson and his wife them moved for summary judgment, making exactly the same argument as relied upon by the Court in this case, contending that Klingman "lack[ed] standing to pursue [the] fraudulent conveyance action because once Melvin filed his bankruptcy petition, the allegedly fraudulently conveyed property became part of the debtor's estate, and only the trustee has standing to assert this cause of action." 158 B.R. at 112. The district court rejected the argument. While noting that the bankruptcy trustee initially has the exclusive right to pursue fraudulently conveyed assets of the debtor, the court stated:

However, the trustee does not retain this exclusive right in perpetuity. The trustee's exclusive right to maintain a fraudulent conveyance action expires and creditors may step in (or resume actions) when the trustee no longer has a viable cause of action. Kathy B. Enterprises, Inc. v. United States, 779 F.2d 1413, 1415 (9th Cir. 1986) (IRS entitled to pursue collection action after bankruptcy closed); Federal Deposit Insurance Corp., 733 F.2d 1083, 1085 (4th Cir. 1984) ("once a bankruptcy case has been closed, creditors having unavoided liens on fraudulently conveyed property can pursue their state law remedies independently of the trustee in bankruptcy"); Dixon v. Bennett, 72 Md. App. 620, 531 A.2d 1318, 1323-25 (1987) ("once a trustee's statutory time period has expired, an unsecured creditor can bring an action against a fraudulent transferee under state law provided the state statute of limitations has not yet expired"), cert denied, 311 Md. 557, 536 A.2d 664 (1988).

Here, there is no dispute that the trustee never sought to recover the conveyance challenged by Klingman and the United States.⁵ The statute of limitations has long since run on the trustee's right to bring that action. The court finds that Klingman and the United States have standing to pursue their claims in this action.

⁵ The United States had intervened in Klingman's action to satisfy a tax debt of Levinson.

158 B.R. at 113.

See also Barber v. Westbay, 313 B.R. 419, 427 (C.D. Ill. 2004) ("The landscape changes, however, once it is determined that the trustee's claim is no longer viable. A creditor regains standing to pursue a state fraudulent conveyance action, in its own name and for its own benefit, once the statute of limitations expires on the bankruptcy trustee's right to bring the claim."); Casey Nat'l Bank v. Roan, 668 N.E.2d 608, 612-13 (Ill. App. 1996) ("While the trustee has the exclusive right to pursue fraudulently conveyed assets pursuant to section 546(a) of the Code once bankruptcy has been initiated (11 U.S.C. § 546(a) (1988)), the trustee loses that right and creditors may step in once the trustee longer has a viable cause of action (in this case because the statute of limitations for initiating a cause for fraudulent conveyance had expired as to the trustee").

Other courts have reached the same conclusion by rejecting similar arguments, among them that a creditor is barred by *res judicata* from pursuing a state law fraudulent transfer claim following a debtor's discharge in bankruptcy.

In <u>Roberson v. Johnson</u>, 950 So.2d 317 (Ala. App. 2006), Roberson loaned Johnsons \$60,000. Johnsons transferred \$10,000 to Fred, and shortly thereafter filed for bankruptcy. Johnsons listed the debt owed to Roberson in their schedule of debts. Johnson's debt to Roberson was eventually discharged. Roberson then sued Fred in state court to avoid the \$10,000 transfer from Johnson to Fred as a fraudulent transfer. Fred moved for summary judgment, asserting that the bankruptcy court had exclusive jurisdiction over the matter and had discharged Johnson's debt to Roberson, fully disposing of the matter. The trial court granted

Fred's motion, but the appellate court reversed. In doing so, the court reasoned that the discharge provision of the Code, 11 U.S.C. § 524(e) "had no effect on Roberson's rights with regard to the alleged fraudulent transfer to Fred. 950 So.2d 321 (citing National Union Fire Ins. Co. v. Grusky, 763 So.2d 1206, 1208-9 (Fla. App. 2000) (holding similarly). Roberson was allowed to continue pursuing his fraudulent transfer claim against Fred.

In Grusky, Elliot defaulted on a loan from Lawrence, and was indebted to National Union. By the time he defaulted on Lawrence's loan, National Union was already a judgment creditor of Elliot. Elliot transferred stock to Lawrence, then filed for Chapter 7 bankruptcy. National Union urged the trustee to avoid the transfer to Lawrence, but the trustee chose not to. National Union then filed suit against Lawrence in state court to avoid the transfer. The trial court granted summary judgment to Lawrence, ruling in part that National Union was barred by res judicata because of the bankruptcy court proceedings, and had no standing because it was no longer a creditor, Elliot's debt to it having been discharged in bankruptcy. The appellate court reversed, reasoning: (a) that National Union was not barred by res judicata, since the fraudulent transfer action was never litigated in the bankruptcy court; and (b) National Union had standing because discharge granted to the debtor under § 524(e) of the Bankruptcy Code expressly "does not affect the liability of any other entity on, or the property of any other entity for, such debt." 763 So.2d at 1208. The court stated that § 524(e) "reveals a congressional intent to broaden the rights of creditors, by preserving their actions against third parties and their property, and to restrict the effect of a discharge solely to a release of the personal property of the debtor." Id. At 1209. The court also emphasized that "the present action is brought against

Lawrence and not against Elliot, the debtor in the bankruptcy proceeding," and since National Union constituted a "creditor" under the UFTA, "[e]ven though National Union's claim against Elliot was discharged in bankruptcy, the claim against Lawrence, a third party, was still viable." Id.

See also Kathy B. Enterprises, Inc. v. United States, 779 F.2d 1413, 1414 (9th Cir. 1986) (holding that the debtor's discharge did not affect a fraudulent transferee's liability for the same debt, and stating: "We see no reason to infer an exception to clear statutory language for the benefit of recipients of fraudulent conveyances. . . . The bankruptcy proceedings are over. Even if the government's actions did violate the stay, it will be permitted to pursue collection actions now."); Dwyer v. Meramec Venture Assoc., 75 S.W.3d 291, 294 (Mo. App. 2002) ("[A] debtor's discharge in bankruptcy does not protect fraudulent transferees from collection efforts by a judgment creditor. To permit a bankrupt debtor to shield his assets by engaging in a fraudulent transfer would result in a windfall to the fraudulent transferees at the expense of the unprotected creditor. We cannot permit the debtor to do indirectly what the law forbids him to do directly.").

In <u>Clark v. Bank of Bentonville</u>, 824 S.W.2d 358, 361 (Ark. 1992), the Arkansas Supreme Court ruled that a bank could pursue a fraudulent transfer claim after the trustee in the transferor debtor's bankruptcy failed to do so. The Court stated in pertinent part:

Appellants further argue that *res judicata* should bar the bank's fraudulent conveyance action because the claim was not pursued in the bankruptcy proceeding. However, the bankruptcy code does not give a creditor the power to pursue a cause of action to set aside a fraudulent conveyance. [Citation omitted]. In fact, 11

U.S.C. § 362(a) imposes an automatic stay that prohibits creditors form acting against a debtor's property during the pendency of the bankruptcy proceeding. [Citation omitted]. While a trustee may elect to pursue a creditor's unsecured state law claim under 11 U.S.C. § 544(b) . . . such an action is an exercise of the avoidance power for the benefit of all creditors. Since the bank did not have standing as a single creditor to pursue the fraudulent conveyance action during the bankruptcy proceeding, *Id.*, *res judicata* did not prohibit the bank's subsequent state court action.

824 S.W.2d at 361 (emphasis added).

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