# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-19-2008

# Christian v. Mason Respondent's Brief Dckt. 35331

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

- 1. The Court Did Not Err in Granting Summary Judgment to Mason.
  - a. Christians lacked standing to pursue the claims.

Christians assert that the standing issue was raised *sua sponte* by the Court. This is not true. The Answer filed by Mason affirmatively states (Sixth Affirmative Defense) that Christians were not the real party in interest. (R. p. 23.) Further, Christians did not have any

portion of the oral arguments transcribed. (R. p.153.) In its decision, the District Court, obviously referenced the arguments made. (R. p. 149.) Even if the issue was raised solely by the District Court, Christians cite no authority supporting the proposition that to do so was error.

The decision by the District Court was based upon a relatively simple basis – Federal bankruptcy law preempts State law. Because Christians did not sue in any capacity related to the bankruptcy, they are barred from asserting this independent action.

Section 544(b) of the Bankruptcy Code authorizes the trustee to pursue any fraudulent conveyance claim that might have been pursued by a creditor or debtor and, in doing so, may use either federal or state law. Section 544(b) provides that "[t]he trustee may avoid any transfer of an interest of the debtor in property or any obligation incurred by the debtor that is voidable under applicable law by a creditor holding an unsecured claim . . . ." 11 U.S.C.A. §544(b)(1). This includes the authority to proceed under Idaho's Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act (UFTA). Cases in the Ninth Circuit (and around the country) have consistently held that a trustee can pursue fraudulent conveyances under state law. See Donell v. Kowell, No. 06-55544, 2008 U.S. App. LEXIS 13843 (9th Cir. July 1, 2008); In re United Energy, 944 F.2d 589 (9th Cir. 1991); Von Gunten v. Neilson (In re Slatkin), 243 F. App'x 255 (2007).

Christians cited case law, such as Klingman v. Levinson, 158 BR 109 (N.D. Ill. 1993), which holds that the bankruptcy trustee's exclusive right to maintain a fraudulent conveyance action expires, and creditors may step in, when the bankruptcy trustee no longer has a viable cause of action, such as when an estate closing. (Br. Appellant 10.) Christians advocate that

this Court take judicial notice of McClung's bankruptcy case in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Idaho, Case Number 03-40682. Mason has no objection to this Court taking judicial notice. McClung's bankruptcy estate was not closed and the trustee was not discharged until May 10, 2007, eight months after both the federal and state statute of limitations had expired for fraudulent conveyances. Because, under §544(b), the bankruptcy trustee had the authority to proceed under Idaho's UFTA, the bankruptcy trustee possessed the exclusive authority to recover fraudulently conveyed funds for the four years after the conveyance.

During the years the bankruptcy case was proceeding, Christians were very active in the bankruptcy case. While the bankruptcy case was proceeding, Christians: (a) filed a Motion to Lift Stay, (b) filed an Amended Motion to Lift Stay, (c) obtained a judgment, and (d) filed a 50 page affidavit (Document 47) advocating, because of their belief that the bankruptcy trustee was failing to do so, that McClung be denied any relief under the bankruptcy laws because of his wrongdoing. The Christian affidavit, prepared in October 2003, shows that Christian had a very substantial knowledge of McClung's receipt and distribution of funds (see Bankr. D. Idaho Case No. 03-40682, Doc. 47 ¶ 18), which Christian obviously reviewed as chairman of the unsecured creditor's committee. Under 11 U.S.C.A. §1102(a), the powers and duties of an unsecured creditor's committee is to investigate the financial condition of the debtor and the committee may ask the court to appoint an examiner to further investigate the matter, including fraud. The bankruptcy record is void of Christian informing the trustee or the Bankruptcy Court of the possibility of bringing a fraudulent conveyance action against Mason. Christians filed this

lawsuit in July 2006, while the bankruptcy case was still open, but did not effect service until six months later, apparently waiting until the time for service was about to expire. (IRCP 4(a)(2)) (R. p. 1.) There is no evidence to support either the proposition that the bankruptcy trustee had abandoned its rights to the cause of action, or that the case was not viable. Christians' claims under Idaho's UFTA expired at the same time as did the trustee's claim to the same. Under Idaho's UFTA laws, Idaho Code § 55-918, a creditor has four years to pursue a claim. Because the bankruptcy trustee has the authority to pursue recovery of assets as a cause of action under Idaho's UFTA, it also has the ability to use Idaho's longer statute of limitation. The bankruptcy trustee has the ability to use different causes of action which in turn allows for different statutes of limitation, which are considered substantive in nature. *In re Avi, Inc.*, 389 B.R. 721 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. June 13, 2008); *Heaper v. Brown*, 214 B.R. 576 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. B.A.P. 2007).

Christians argue that the bankruptcy trustee abandoned his claim. (Br. Appellant 14.) No supporting document was cited showing that the bankruptcy trustee had abandoned any claim within the statute of limitation time period. Christians' arguments are against prudent policy. The purpose of the bankruptcy trustee, as correctly indicated by the District Court, is to represent all creditors and for the "orderly administration of the bankruptcy estate by providing judicial supervision over the litigation to be undertaken." (R. p. 149.) If Christians feel the bankruptcy trustee failed in its duty to pursue this claim, they could have petitioned the Bankruptcy Court, as was their course of action in opposing McClung's discharge. Instead, Christians took intentional steps to appropriate the cause of action for themselves, instead of all

creditors. See In re Monsour Medical Center, 5 B.R. 715, 718 (Bkrtcy.Pa. 1980). The District Court was correct in ruling that allowing Christians to pursue this state action frustrated the Bankruptcy Court's function. (R. pp. 149-150.)

# 2. The District Court did not err in denying Christians' Motion for Summary Judgment.

Christians assert that there is no genuine issue and material fact and that the District Court should have granted summary judgment to the Christians. Apparently, Christians are attempting to appeal a summary judgment decision that has not been made. Implicitly, dismissing Christians' lawsuit is a denial of their Motion for Summary Judgment. However, such decision is not reviewable. There is no provision for appeal of a summary judgment decision under IAR 11. An order denying a motion for summary judgment is neither appealable, nor reviewable on appeal from a final judgment. Hunter v. Dep't of Corr., 138 Idaho 44, 46, 57 P.3d 755, 757 (2002). Therefore, the Court should not consider the Christians' arguments that it was error for the District Court to deny their motion for summary judgment.

Going to the merits of Christians arguments, Mason recognizes that, under the Idaho UFTA, one can be totally innocent, like himself, and still be subject to return of net gains. An extensive discussion, as Christians has done, is not necessary. Mason has two defenses to the fraudulent transfer allegations. Both defenses respond to Christians' arguments on appeal, but also serve as an additional support for granting summary judgment to Mason, even though the District Court did not expressly rule on the same. The first defense is that Mason only received reasonably equivalent

value. The second defense is that the funds Mason received from McClung in 2002 belonged to his father, not himself.

#### a. Reasonably equivalent value was given.

Pursuant to Idaho Code § 55-918, Christians had four years to bring the fraudulent conveyance related to disputed distribution from McClung. Christians were aware of this particular statute because, in paragraph 9 of their Complaint, they refer only to the three transfers to Mason, which took place less than four years earlier.

Each transfer is considered independently to determine whether or not the transfer was fraudulent. The entire statutory scheme (Idaho Code, Chapter 9 of Title 55), regarding fraudulent conveyances, is in the singular. In addition, there is a clear limitation on what is recoverable in a case like the present case, wherein the action against the transferee is procrastinated. In *Donell*, the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit stated:

Moreover, pursuant to UFTA, the Receiver is only entitled to recovery of the amounts above Kowell's initial investment transferred within the limitations period. Thus, the statute protects Kowell in two ways. It allows him to keep the full amount of his original investment, see Scholes, 56 F.3d at 757, and it shields those "profits" paid to Kowell for which the statute of limitations has run.

Donell v. Kowell, No. 06-55544, 2008 U.S. App. LEXIS 13843, at \*30 (9th Cir. July 1, 2008).

The evidence shows that each and every month Mason received the exact amount of withdrawal as the reported earning, with the exception of a couple of months where principal was withdrawn. Even in such months, a clear break down between principal and reported earnings can be

made for each disbursement. Contrary to this distinct evidence, Christians make the argument, without supporting authority, that all of the last disbursements where reported earnings, not principal. As *Donnell* recently held, "gains" paid outside of the statute of limitation period are not subject to recovery. Because of Mason's investment practices, accounting can readily be done. Of the \$45,615.19 received after July 20, 2002, \$44,042.06 is the return of principal. The remaining \$1,572.13 is reported earnings, which has been acknowledged from the beginning of this case. However, such amount would be *de minimis* to the present proceeding.

The basis of a defense to a fraudulent conveyance allegation cited by Christians (Idaho Code § 55-913(1)(a) and (b), and § 55-914(1)) is if the transfer was in exchange for "reasonable equivalent value." Pursuant to Idaho Code § 55-913(1)(a), the defense has the additional element of "good faith." "Reasonable equivalent value" is not defined in Idaho statute or law. Federal and state courts look at determining reasonable equivalent value on a case-by-case basis. Obviously, the main factors include the difference between the amount paid and amount received. In addition, other factors considered include good faith of the recipient and whether or not the transaction was made at arms length. *Mellon Bank, N.A. v. Official Comm. of Unsecured Creditors of R.M.L., Inc.*, 92 F.3d 139, 151-54 (3d Cir. 1996). Mason's withdrawals or payments correspond to a complete and exact accounting of the distributions. There is no evidence that Mason was in collusion with McClung or that he was an insider. Mason and Christians were equal in their respective relationships and knowledge as to McClung.

For the reasons and facts stated above and with the exception of the *de minimis* amount, the disputed funds received by Mason were the return of principal.

#### b. Mason is not liable for the funds he received which belonged to his father.

Idaho law allows recovery against the "the first transferee of the asset or the person for whose benefit the transfer was made. . . ." Idaho Code §55-917(2)(a). Although Mason handled his father's money by allowing it to be invested in Mason's name and Mason was the payee on the checks, nevertheless, the funds belonged to his father and Mason received no benefit from the funds.

Christians attack Mason's affidavit (R. pp. 65-88), wherein Mason establishes that the funds remaining in the account in 2002 were solely his fathers' funds, by asserting that such statements are conclusory. Mason was the person with factual knowledge as to the funds he personally handled as well as being knowledgeable of his own financial affairs. A sufficient foundation exists. Noteworthy is the fact that some of the McClung (RRLM) statements indicate "Monte Mason" as the client (R. pp. 69-71) and that Christians provided no contradictory evidence. The Idaho Supreme Court has stated:

Once the moving party establishes the absence of a genuine issue of material fact, the burden shifts to the non-moving party to show that a genuine issue of material fact does exist. (Citation omitted). A non-moving party must come forward with evidence by way of affidavit or otherwise which contradicts the evidence submitted by the moving party, and which establishes the existence of a material issue of disputed fact. (Citation omitted); *Zehm v. Assoc. Logging Contractors, Inc.*, 116 Idaho 349, 350, 775 P.2d 1191, 1192 (1988).

Kiebert v. Goss, 144 Idaho, 225, 228, 159 P.3d 862, 865 (2007).

The evidence is undisputed that the 2002 funds were Mason's fathers, that Mason received no

benefit from his father's funds, and that Mason is entitled to summary judgment in his favor.

3. Mason Is Entitled to His Attorney Fees and Costs on Appeal.

"Attorney fees are awardable if an appeal does no more than simply invite an appellate court to

second-guess the trial court on conflicting evidence." Nelson v. Nelson, 144 Idaho 710, 719, 170 P.3d

375, 383 (2007) (citing Anderson v. Larsen, 136 Idaho 402, 408, 34 P.3d 1085, 1091(2001)). In the

present case, Christians are simply requesting the appellate court to second-guess the District Court.

It is appropriate to award attorney fees and costs to Mason.

CONCLUSION

The decision of the District Court granting Mason summary judgment should be affirmed and

Mason should be awarded his attorney fees and costs.